



[image: Cover Image]









[image: Image]


[image: image]







[image: image]


Roger Maynard is a former BBC reporter and correspondent for The Times, the Independent and CNBC. A past president of the Foreign Correspondents’ Association of Australia, he has been a journalist for nearly five decades. He is the author of six books of true crime and military history.


For more information visit www.rogermaynard.com.au




This book is dedicated to Max ‘Eddie’ Gilbert, Ralph Godfrey, Walter Hicks, Tom Pledger, Jimmy Morrison and Ed Weiss, whose vivid memories of a terrible time made this book possible.




[image: image]




PROLOGUE


HOW HAD IT come to this? It was a question that would strike at the very core of Australian military tradition. Where was the mateship, the fairness, the spirit of egalitarianism? Where was the justice? If the cage was a penalty of last resort it said little for the state of army discipline or morale on Ambon in the final year of the Second World War. Yet here it was a reality of life for those men of the 2/21st Battalion who resorted to petty theft to relieve their hunger. It was a box within a barracks, within a jail, within an island prison. And what made it worse was that their jailors were fellow Australians.


The cage and all it represented would haunt the men who served on Ambon for decades and form part of a much greater tragedy which was none of their doing.


The 2/21st Battalion and several smaller units were brought together in the early days of the war to form Gull Force, which was committed to defend the strategically important island of Ambon in the Dutch East Indies should the Japanese invade south-east Asia.


It was an ill-fated plan hatched by Australian, Dutch and British military top brass in Singapore in late 1940 and early 1941. Under the agreement the Dutch pledged to provide air back-up in defence of Malaya should the Japanese enter the war, in return for a similar commitment by Australia to protect Timor and Ambon, which were part of the Dutch East Indies.


The 2/21st Battalion effectively drew the short straw which would see it sent to defend an island that was impossible to hold against the might of the Japanese military. After a few days of fighting the Australian troops were forced to capitulate and spend the next three-and-a-half years as prisoners of war.


Sick, starving and demoralised, the men found that camp discipline also became a problem, an issue that led to the erection of the cage, which was roughly 6 feet square and constructed from natural materials.


It was essentially a cell without a roof, but one from which it was impossible to escape. For the ‘boob’, as it was also known, was encased in barbed wire, its metal tentacles and sharp spikes capable of drawing blood at every turn. Each movement required an acute degree of delicacy and precision. One ill-judged stretch or repositioning of the body could leave a painful and potentially fatal gash in the flesh. Infected wounds were as much a threat to prisoners as beri-beri, cholera, malaria and dysentery.


Ostensibly the cage was the idea of Major George de Verdon Westley, who sought the permission of Japanese high command to impose a dose of home-grown discipline on his men. Other officers had supported the plan and, according to some reports, may even have instigated it, but Westley took responsibility. Previous attempts to keep the light-fingered and the malcontents in order, such as fines or loss of rank, had proved to be of little use as deterrents. Why would a man worry about his military or financial future when his very life was under threat?


That’s why bandicooting had been so rife. The act of burrowing underground to steal another man’s vegetables while leaving the leaves and stalks in place had become an art form among some of the less scrupulous, whose motivation had more to do with hunger than greed. Starving and emaciated, they’d also raid the vegetable garden tilled by the Australian officers, who deemed such behaviour a threat to their own survival.


Their officer status, which exempted them from the back-breaking manual labour the lower ranks were forced to carry out, allowed them plenty of time to nurture the vegetables which bolstered their health, arguably at the expense of the other prisoners. If this unequal arrangement had created resentment in the camp, the rest of the battalion didn’t show it. What did incur their wrath was the punishment meted out to those offenders who were caught and held overnight in the cage.


Max Gilbert recalls three of his mates ending up there. ‘The idea was that anyone caught pinching stuff during the night was locked in there when they came home from their work party and kept inside, irrespective of what the weather was like.’1 They were fed, watered and given a blanket, but there was little protection from the elements and by daybreak those incarcerated were hardly fit for another day’s labour.


The ‘boob’ came to symbolise the loss of respect and sense of injustice the men felt towards their superiors. It gouged a wound that even after 70 years has not yet healed, and epitomised what happens when officers and men turn against each other.


Discontent among the men of the 2/21st had been simmering long before the cage arrived. There was a perception that some of the senior officers had let them down. Rightly or wrongly, a few were accused of not complaining to the Japanese for fear of ‘making them angry’. Only under ‘the greatest pressure’ would extra food and medical supplies be requested. And sometimes they’d threaten to hand some of their own men over to the Japanese for punishment. This was no idle warning. On one occasion it actually happened, much to the disgust of the offender’s mates.


By war’s end the allegations made against some of the Australian top brass who were in charge of the 2/21st were taken so seriously that an official inquiry was ordered. It followed a formal complaint from two American prisoners of war who took exception to the way the camp had been run for the past three-and-a-half years. They accused the Australian officers of operating a ‘closed corporation, whose primary purpose was their own welfare and saving their own skin’.2 Prisoners who were too weak or sick for manual labour were, they claimed, pulled from their beds and compelled to work. The camp staff did not give the men their fair share of rations. And on two occasions men who’d committed offences were ‘severely beaten’ by other POWs.


While the US servicemen might well have had their own agenda in demanding the inquiry, they reflected the sentiments expressed by many of the Australian POWs on Ambon at the time. The military did not waste time in launching their investigation.


At 1400 hours on Monday, 17 September 1945, a mere fifteen days after the official Japanese surrender, the Allied Land Forces, South West Pacific Area, held a Court of Inquiry on Administration and Control of the Tan Tui prisoner of war camp on Ambon, in what was then the Dutch East Indies.


How it had reached this stage was a vexed and uncomfortable question for the military establishment. In truth, the breakdown of trust between the leaders and the led was one of many aspects of a much bigger story which encompassed the soldiers of the 2/21st during the Second World War and which continued to unfold for years to come. Theirs was an unhappy and often brutal experience which would take them from the backblocks of Victoria to Alice Springs and on to Darwin in the Northern Territory before they eventually encountered enemy action. Along the way there would be fear and frustration, death and bloodshed, hope and courage, illness and starvation. And heroism of a scale few would have believed possible.


For some who refused to accept their loss of freedom there was the prospect of escape. Others who were sent to the Chinese island of Hainan disappeared into enemy territory, never to be seen again, engendering speculation over their likely fate. Where did they hide? How did they survive? Could they have been alive at war’s end? And if so, what happened to them? It is a question that has never been satisfactorily answered and remains one of the battalion’s great unsolved mysteries.


And what of the characters who comprised the cast of this epic drama? People like the popular Lieutenant Colonel Len Roach, who proudly led his men to Ambon only to be replaced by the ageing World War One veteran Lieutenant Colonel William Scott. Or the vicious interpreter Ikeuchi Masakiyo, who ran the Ambon prison camp in such a ruthless fashion and whose guards proved all too willing to emulate his vicious style. And the rank and file soldiers like Bill Doolan, who was stationed on the outskirts of Ambon town as the Japanese advanced and simply refused to leave his post. Armed with six hand grenades, a rifle and a revolver, Doolan is said to have killed or wounded 80 Japanese while perched in a tree, before he fell dead himself. His body was found and buried a few days later. The cross that marked his grave was eventually placed in the Australian War Memorial.


And so the Ambon legend evolved, reinforced by countless stories of suffering, not least the massacre of more than 300 Australians and Dutch who were held captive near the island airstrip at Laha. It was one of the most monstrous acts of cruelty to be recorded during the Japanese occupation of south-east Asia and the Pacific, and turned Ambon into an island synonymous with the bloodiest of war crimes. Yet it was only after liberation that the initial hints of what had happened during the first few weeks of Ambon’s capitulation began to emerge.


At the beginning of the war, Gull Force and a number of support units which accompanied the 2/21st to Ambon consisted of 1150 men. In addition, there were some 2600 Dutch and indigenous troops stationed on the island. Of the total number of Australians, just over 300 lived to tell the tale. The death rate on Ambon was a staggering 77 per cent of all those held in captivity. Those who were sent on to Hainan – about a third of those Australians held prisoner on Ambon – fared slightly better, with about one in three losing their lives.


These were shocking statistics and represented some of the highest casualty rates in military history, including those of the Charge of the Light Brigade on 25 October 1854.


The battle of Ambon might have been a very different valley of death but manifested the same suicidal tendencies as the Battle of Balaclava nearly a century earlier. For this was an unwinnable conflict, given the might of the Japanese military and Australia’s lack of firepower. Despite the courage of the men who took on the Japanese – and their heroism has never been properly acknowledged – Ambon was ripe for the taking.


It has since emerged that the officer in charge of the Australian Section of the Imperial General Staff, Major Vernon Sturdee, made the decision to send his men to Ambon while privately conceding that they didn’t have a hope in hell of repelling the Japanese. That he persevered with his suicidal strategy while being advised by others that it was militarily unsound is one of the great scandals of the Ambon operation. All too aware that his men were ill-equipped to withstand even a moderate incursion, let alone a full invasion force of Japanese troops, Sturdee deliberately withheld arms and other military support to avoid them falling into the hands of the enemy.


Yet the man who effectively appointed himself as commander-in-chief of the area decided to ignore his own military instincts and the better judgement of others in pursuit of a strategy that was destined to fail. It was a decision he was later to regret, but by then it was too late to save the lives of hundreds of his soldiers, and the freedom of many more. For the next three-and-a-half years the men of the 2/21st Battalion and sundry other units endured a living hell at the hands of their captors in conditions so appalling that many died from starvation or disease. Some endeavoured to escape and, incredibly, made their way back to Australia. Others were gunned down by Chinese guerillas. But it was the cruelty of the Japanese that would be so hard to forgive.


In the war crimes trials that followed, fifteen Japanese officers and guards were jailed or executed for what happened on Ambon. Another fifteen were imprisoned or condemned to death for their treatment of Australians and other Allied servicemen on Hainan. But while the trials provided a degree of retribution for those who suffered and died at the hands of the enemy, there was no sense of closure for survivors. Their story was far from over as they battled depression, alcoholism and ill-health. And there was the memory too of the ugly rift between officers and men, a sore which continues to fester. At the time of writing only a few survivors are left, but the wound refuses to heal.


If the cage was a low point in Australian military history, the role of Ambon in the south-east Asian theatre of war will also be remembered as an ill-conceived and ill-fated exercise. The generous might agree that it held up the Japanese advance for a few weeks and thereby delayed plans to move further south towards Australia, but the cost of the strategy far exceeded the merits.


The debacle that was Ambon could have been avoided. Instead, it doomed hundreds of diggers to three-and-a-half years of hunger, sickness and brutality, which for many ended in death, as well as affecting the lives of thousands of men and women who lost their loved ones. It is also a tragedy which not only spanned a war, but effectively transcends more than a century of Australian history. Many of the characters who were to play a key role in the ill-judged Ambon operation were born in the latter part of the nineteenth century, when military strategy was based on horse-drawn armaments and scant regard for human life. Remarkably, the judgements made by officers who grew up then continue to echo into the 21st century, as the men they led ponder their contribution to the Second World War and recall those dark days as if they were yesterday.
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PREPARING FOR WAR


‘THE TRUTH IS the War does feel like yesterday,’ Tom Pledger confides, as he draws on a menthol filter cigarette and places his frozen roast lamb dinner-for-one in the microwave. Tall, erect and an accomplished surfer in his time, Tom walks to the shops, enjoys a glass of wine or whisky and only recently stopped driving his much loved Morris Minor.


It is 19 November 2012, a few days after his 95th birthday.


A black and white photograph taken in 1940 of him and his late wife, Jessie, stands proudly on a table in the dining room. She didn’t know whether he was dead or alive for nearly four years, but even so, she waited. They married on 1 December 1945, the day after he was discharged.


On a shelf opposite there’s a framed certificate confirming he was mentioned in despatches for distinguished service. ‘Must have been something I did,’ he smiles.


There are a lot of memories in this bungalow, which sits on a gently rising slope in Sydney’s south-western suburbs. It’s where his twins, Paul and Nan, grew up; where the Pledger family celebrated life’s triumphs and occasionally suffered the failures. He’s lived here for nearly 65 years after spotting the footings being built and offering the owner a £10 deposit. It’s so long ago he’s forgotten the purchase price, but the property is as spick and span now as it was when he moved in. (He only recently finished painting and decorating the inside by himself.)


While his hearing is fading, his memory remains as sharp as a tack. His mum and dad, Harry and Katherine, ‘were the best parents you could ever have’. They christened him Athol, but his dad thought the name too sissy and called him Tom. His eyes are welling now, as he recalls his childhood back in Byron Bay, where he landed a job as a railway porter after leaving school. He describes the lunchtime surf he’d take and the frantic race back to work with dripping towel and surfboard under his arm. Then promotion to stationmaster at Mullumbimby, before moving south to Gloucester and on to Maitland.


That’s where he caught his first glimpse of army life. There was a military camp in Maitland and men in uniform were a familiar sight. ‘You’d see all these chaps marching through and I suppose it just got to me, so I enlisted,’ he explains. Of course he’d heard about the fighting in Europe and Australia’s contribution to the war effort but the gently undulating terrain of the New South Wales Hunter Valley was far removed from Hitler’s march of terror. If Tom was apprehensive about what to expect, he didn’t show it. He’s not a worrier now and certainly wasn’t then. So he packed his bags and headed for Broadmeadow, in Newcastle, to sign up. The date was 27 August 1940; it was the beginning of an epic journey that would consume the next five years.1


Despite the war which had been declared almost a year earlier, there was still a certain innocence about Australia’s involvement. After all, the hostilities were more than 19 000 kilometres away, a distance which psychologically inured Australians to the gathering storm. Newspaper advertisements of the day seemed blissfully unaware of international conflict, with luxury products such as radiograms retailing for 27 guineas and a three-piece lounge suite for £16.2 In Melbourne’s Como Park you could pick up a ‘delightful, architect-built, three bedroom home with an exquisite bathroom’ for £3300 or, at Disney Motors, an Austin Seven for £70. For the rich, there was a Standard Flying 14 Sedan for £235.


With so many blokes away at the war, jobs were also plentiful. In the situations vacant column of the Melbourne Argus there were rows of classified ads for manual and unskilled labour. A wholesale fruit store wanted a man with a good knowledge of wrapping and packing and was willing to pay him £5 a week. A qualified nurse could earn over £4, while her semi-trained equivalent could expect more than £2 a week.


Times were good for those in work and with a little spare cash. Cinemas and theatres were booming. The violinist Yehudi Menuhin was playing his farewell recital at Melbourne’s Town Hall, David Niven was starring in the Hollywood movie Raffles and Walt Disney’s Pinocchio was on at The Savoy. Unlike Britain there was no sign of rationing, with a slab of MacRobertson’s chocolate offering four rows of different flavours including fruit sundae, strawberry cream and Turkish delight. But if life’s little luxuries were still widely available, those who studied the newspapers carefully might have had cause for concern.


On the day Tom joined up, a report from New York quoted Rear Admiral Yates Stirling, former chief of the Naval Staff, as saying that war between the United States and Japan was inevitable, ‘unless their ever mounting differences are composed’.3 And in a clear warning of what such a confrontation would mean to its Allies in the Pacific, he predicted that a Japanese–American conflict would be a naval war fought mainly in the Orient.


If Australians were worried about the prospect of military action on their doorstep, they remained quietly confident about the outcome. Hadn’t Arthur Fadden, the Minister for Air, only that day alluded to the nation’s expanding aviation power? Australia’s air defences had reached a level of strength and efficiency which could never have been contemplated a year ago, he had announced. Pilots, air gunners and wireless operators were being trained in ever-increasing numbers. Unfortunately, most of them were headed for Europe and there was even less detail about the number of aircraft coming off the production line.


In fairness, it wasn’t only the war that Australians had to worry about. Rural areas were in the middle of a drought, with much of Victoria and New South Wales at a particularly ‘critical’ stage. In South Australia the cost of wheat was up to five shillings a bushel and in Queensland they were talking about roast beef soon becoming a luxury item, with cattle values being the highest for twenty years. ‘Beef has become so dear in fact that a number of cafes have removed it from their menus,’ one local paper reported.4


The weather, it seems, was as unpredictable then as now, with the elements playing unusual tricks in August – ‘usually a month of cold winds … But already the birds in the trees are chirruping gaily and have been discarded. Spring is in the air and at the weekend hundreds of people had their first dip in the surf.’5 It wasn’t to last. The papers warned that a wintry blast was on its way.


The minutiae of Australian life as reported by the newspapers may have provided a comforting sense of normality for men like Tom Pledger as they made their way to Sydney, Melbourne and other state capitals for their initial training, taking their minds off the horrors that might lie around the corner and galvanising a sense of purpose. After all, wasn’t this about protecting the free world from tyranny and ensuring the future of civilisation at home and abroad? Surely Australia was worth fighting for.
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Unlike the thousands of young men who were signing up all over Australia, the old guard had seen it all before. Many of the senior officers who were standing by to take command had known action in the First World War. Military tradition and a sense of duty were in their blood.


Sir Vernon Ashton Hobart Sturdee, who was to take command of Eighth Division, came from a family of soldiers and sailors. His father Alfred, who had trained as a doctor, used his medical experience in Gallipoli as a member of the 1st AIF 2nd Field Ambulance. One of his uncles, Sir Donavan Sturdee, was an officer in Britain’s Royal Navy and eventually rose to become Admiral of the Fleet. Charles, another uncle, became a lieutenant colonel with the Australian Light Horse. It was only natural that Vernon, who was born in 1890, should enter the services after leaving Melbourne Church of England Grammar School and taking an apprenticeship as an engineer.


Still in his mid-teens, he became a sapper in the Corps of Australian Engineers, Militia, and in 1908 was commissioned. Three years later the man who was to play such a decisive role in the fate of the 2/21st Battalion on Ambon was appointed lieutenant on probation, Royal Australian Engineers, Permanent Military Forces. By August 1914 he was on his way to Egypt as a member of the AIF. A few months afterwards he was promoted to captain and on 25 April 1915 landed at Gallipoli as adjutant, 1st Divisional Engineers.


A year later he was transferred to France, where he was praised for his ‘skill and energy’. Captain Vernon Sturdee was gaining a reputation for getting things done under difficult circumstances. The way he prepared for major operations in the Cordonnerie sector near Armentières did not go unnoticed by his superiors. He was awarded the Distinguished Service Order and in 1917 was promoted to temporary lieutenant colonel, commanding the 4th Pioneer Battalion.


Sturdee’s teenage experience as an engineer proved invaluable when it came to repairing and maintaining roads, laying underground cables and building army accommodation. To say he was in his element was an understatement. War was his calling and his commitment to King and country unwavering. With a DSO, an OBE and two mentions in despatches under his belt, Vernon Sturdee returned to Australia to work at Duntroon’s Royal Military College and later as director of military operations at Army Headquarters in Melbourne.


By now a career soldier with a wealth of active service behind him, Sturdee was clearly being groomed for even greater responsibilities. As the news from overseas grew bleaker by the day and the spectre of international conflict loomed large, he was made the army’s First Director of Staff Duties and in 1939 was appointed head of Eastern Command.6
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Maric (Eddie) Gilbert grew up in a world far removed from army life. At 91 he peers out of the window of his suburban bungalow and looks back on his childhood and teenage years in Melbourne with a mixture of pride and nostalgia.


He was a pupil at Brighton Road State Primary School in St Kilda and was a choirboy at the local church. Mum and Dad had great plans for him and organised a part scholarship for their boy to Caulfield Grammar, but after two years and one term he had to leave. ‘They were still recovering from the Great Depression and couldn’t keep up the fees anymore,’ he says, in a tone hinting at what might have been.


Instead Maric, or Eddie as he was to become known in the army, got a job with a wholesale jewellery company in Little Collins Street. The year was 1936. On the other side of the world Adolf Hitler was playing host at the Berlin Olympics, his Nazi empire poised to straddle most of Europe and engulf much of the rest of the world in flames. In faraway Melbourne Eddie’s dad Ulric, who worked at the State Electricity Commission, was more concerned with getting his lad a job at the SEC. ‘You’d have a better future there,’ he’d say. Eddie took some persuading but eventually got the message and succeeded in securing a job as a storeman there.


He was still a teenager and while he’d enjoyed a loving childhood there was one part of his life that had always niggled him – that name. My, was he teased about it! Maric was ‘Mar’ from Marion, his mum’s name, and ‘ic’ from Ulric. ‘I hated it because sometimes I would be mistaken for a girl, for Marie. I was so sensitive about it.’


He needn’t have worried. Soon Maric would change his name to Max, only for his army mates to nickname him Eddie.7
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William John Rendel Scott, like Vernon Sturdee, was a product of an earlier military era. Born in 1888 at Bingara in New South Wales, he went into the insurance business before enlisting in the AIF in May 1915 and serving with the 19th and 20th Battalions in France.8


The Battle of the Somme was one of the bloodiest campaigns in the First World War and Scott’s work at Flers was to earn him the Distinguished Service Order. Twice mentioned in despatches, he was a fighter whose courage was without dispute. A colourful character with a devilish reactionary streak, he was wounded in France and in April 1917 was promoted to major.


Scott had no intention of pursuing an army career on his return to Australia and instead founded an insurance brokerage in Sydney. But the world of business could not compete with the draw of matters military. He was a strong supporter of veterans’ organisations and occasionally found a role for himself in local militias. Perhaps bored with his professional responsibilities and secretly missing the thrill of battle, his right-wing tendencies grew ever more extreme. At one stage he formed a ‘White Army’ to counter Australia’s increasingly militant socialist and trade union movements.


By 1931 he was chief of staff of a secret army known as the Old Guard. It had 30 000 members and aimed to impose the rule of law in the event of the civilian government being overthrown. Increasingly powerful on the far right of politics, Scott used his influence to gather intelligence about Japanese activities in Australia while publicly calling for closer ties with Tokyo. He wrote letters to the newspapers defending Japanese foreign policy and spoke to meetings. ‘Japan is an old and civilised country, demanding our respect and understanding,’ he declared in a speech to a luncheon club in Sydney. ‘It has been suggested that Japan is preparing to invade Australia. Such utterances are foolish and ignorant.’9 Scott even paid an official visit to Japan in 1934 to look at sheep and wool production and explore the possibilities of staging cultural exchanges.


Intriguingly, while extolling Japanese virtues to anyone who would listen, he was also engaged in military and civilian intelligence. As a member of the Australian–Japanese Society he had a plausible cover for asking questions and gaining information. But Scott’s success in the field of espionage annoyed the professionals, including the police, whose own intelligence officers labelled him arrogant and high-handed. Eventually he became so difficult that he was forbidden access to secret files.


Personal and professional relations with Scott were often strained. He was proud of his reputation as a soldier and a leader of men and expected others to recognise his status. Sadly, his ambition and his restless energy were to be his undoing. Scott’s early military experience might have earned him a reputation as a fearsome soldier, but it proved of little benefit a quarter of a century later when his renewed lust for combat contributed to the disaster that was Ambon. Neither did it sit comfortably with another side of his character, which was to be so graphically exposed behind barbed wire.10
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As the storm clouds of international conflict continued to gather over Europe, Walter Hicks was reminded of his own family’s involvement in the Great War. His father had been in the Royal Navy and his mother, who had three sisters and six brothers, had seen the results of the battlefield firsthand. One of her brothers was killed at Fromelles, another lost a leg in the same battle and a third died from a gas attack. Walter Dunstan Hicks, who was born on 24 January 1920 in Bordertown, South Australia, was all too familiar with the aftermath of conflict. He also had a nose for history and even as a young man he realised that if something wasn’t done to stop Hitler, he would take over the world.


He’d grown up in the country and was a crack shot with a rifle so he knew he had the basic qualities of a good soldier. But Walter was also making his way in civilian life, securing a good job with a promising future at the State Savings Bank in Melbourne. He was nineteen, ambitious to succeed and his career was uppermost in his mind.


It was a Friday night in September 1939 when all that changed. Walter had been working as a clerk in the Centre Road branch at Bentleigh, in the Melbourne suburbs. In those days the banks would open for an hour in the early evening and as he served the customers he noticed a crowd gathering outside a radio shop some 100 yards down the road. Curious to know what the fuss was about he heard the faint sound of a gravelly voice coming from a wireless which people on the pavement were listening to.


It was Britain’s Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain broadcasting from the Cabinet Room in Ten Downing Street.






This morning the British Ambassador in Berlin handed the German Government a final note stating that, unless we hear from them by 11 o’clock that they were prepared at once to withdraw their troops from Poland, a state of war would exist between us. I have to tell you now that no such undertaking has been received and that consequently this country is at war with Germany.








In one of those impromptu exchanges which seem much more memorable in retrospect, an old man standing next to Walter asked, ‘Are you going to war?’ Before he had time to reply, Walter turned round to see George Nasen pull up his trouser leg and show him the scar from a bullet wound he’d suffered in the First World War. It made an indelible impression on Walter Hicks, who would soon be going to war himself.11
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Of all the men who were to form part of Gull Force, Lieutenant Colonel Leonard Roach would be remembered as the officer who might have saved the 2/21st Battalion, had the authorities accepted his wise counsel or listened to his pleas.


As a private in the First World War, Roach saw service at Gallipoli and in France and rapidly made his way up the military ladder, first as a corporal and latterly as Camp Commandant, Headquarters, 2nd Brigade. By the war’s end he had been awarded the Military Cross and in 1918 gained a commission in the Indian Army which took him to Persia and Afghanistan, before returning to Australia, where he was made a captain in the Reserve of Officers.


By all accounts Roach, who combined a part-time role in the militia with his work as a Melbourne businessman, was a quiet but popular officer, a man who enjoyed the respect and loyalty of all those who served under him. Ostensibly shy and modest, he had a reputation for enforcing discipline while maintaining a friendly and approachable manner. Throughout the twenties and the thirties he held posts at Branch Headquarters, 4th Division, the 3rd Division Artillery and as major in the 37th/39th Battalions. While he was not a career soldier as such, he maintained strong bonds with the army and by 1939 was made the 14th Battalion’s temporary lieutenant colonel.


By July 1940 he had enlisted in the 2nd AIF and was back as a full-time military man, commanding the 2/21st Infantry Battalion of the 23rd Brigade, 8th Division, soon to be better known as Gull Force. Lieutenant Colonel Len Roach, the man who would eventually be known as the ‘father’ of the battalion, was assembling his men and facing up to the responsibilities of war. Perhaps because he began his military life as a private, he forged a stronger bond with other ranks, though the respect he enjoyed from most of his men did not always extend to the officer class. As the leader of the 2/21st prepared his men for action, there would be serious disagreements with his superiors over the wisdom of Australia’s decision to defend the island of Ambon, 933 kilometres north of Darwin. There would also be criticism of his troops’ behaviour before they embarked for the Dutch East Indies, after reports of indiscipline among lower ranks.


Controversy over Roach’s role as CO and his disapproval of the 8th Division’s military strategy in the Banda Sea would ultimately be his undoing, but for now Gull Force was still in its infancy and its members largely ignorant of the grave threat they were facing.12


[image: image]


Jimmy Morrison, who enlisted at the end of 1939 before joining Gull Force, would go on to share his then commanding officer’s sentiments. He was only twenty at the time and, like all young men, keen to do his bit for King and country. Yet more than 70 years later, and with the benefit of hindsight, he ponders the folly of his masters. ‘We were put there to be slaughtered,’ he declares. ‘We had nothing when we got there and the Japs walked all over us.’


Jimmy’s brutal judgement is delivered in his ninety-third year, his memory slightly clouded but his opinions based on the harsh reality of war. He is one of the few who are still alive to offer a firsthand account of life as a POW on Ambon and Hainan.


He’d found himself in the Dutch East Indies after joining the 2/12th Field Ambulance Unit. Jimmy didn’t have any medical experience, not even first aid, but they were looking for volunteers when he enlisted at the Gladesville drill hall in Sydney and soon he was on his way to Cowra and then on to Darwin.


Until then he’d been working in a paint factory at Rhodes and helping in his dad’s tomato garden in Ryde. They were a big and loving family. His parents Monty and Alice had five daughters and three sons. ‘They were very good people,’ Jimmy recalls, and he would miss them dearly over the next four years as hunger, illness and the brutality of Japanese prison life consumed his every waking hour and much of his sleep. It was to become a living nightmare.13
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And so Jimmy Morrison, Tom Pledger, Walter Hicks, Eddie Gilbert and the rest of Gull Force made ready for Ambon under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Len Roach and his second in command, Major Ian Macrae.


It was a long wait as the War Cabinet and Army HQ in Melbourne developed their strategy for the Dutch East Indies and kept a wary eye on Japan.


Few realised then that it was a disaster waiting to happen.
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THE DOOMED GRAND STRATEGY


WHAT A CHEERY throng they were that morning. It was July 1940 and the men who would go on to form Gull Force were being drawn from across Victoria and beyond.


Eddie Gilbert had started out a few weeks earlier in Melbourne’s Royal Park, where hundreds of men had arrived to volunteer. Within a few days of enlisting he was given a uniform and was on his way to Shepparton in country Victoria, where he dossed down in the fat sheep pen at the local showground.


Training was rudimentary. Handed a broomstick for a rifle, Eddie and his mates paraded around the showground and pretended to be soldiers – not to make light of their commitment, but this was their level of inexperience and innocence. Many had never handled a gun and while some might have had a taste of the militia, the majority were country boys drawn from Mildura, Geelong, Colac and the Riverina, over the border in New South Wales.


By mid-1940 the call to arms had attracted almost 50 000 recruits across Australia, and the army was running out of space. Shepparton Showground was bursting at the seams, forcing the military authorities to set up a new camp at Trawool, on the banks of the Goulburn River near Seymour. Nearly 100 kilometres from Melbourne, Trawool had been a popular spot for army manoeuvres since before the First World War. It had even received a visit from British Field Marshal Lord Kitchener in 1910, when he was on a visit to Australia. It also had the advantage of a railway line, which aided troop transportation and communications. Trouble was the weather. With little in the way of solidly built accommodation, the men were mostly forced to shelter under canvas from the mid-winter rain and freezing winds which swept through the Trawool Valley.


It was not a comfortable stay and there was much relief when they were transferred to Bonegilla, close to Albury on the Victoria–New South Wales border. By now they were officially part of the 2/21st Battalion of the 23rd Brigade of the 8th Division of the Australian Imperial Force.


Major General Sturdee had taken command of 8th Division on 1 August 1940, though he was succeeded by Major General Gordon Bennett on 24 September after several senior officers and politicians were killed in a plane crash near Canberra. In the subsequent reorganisation Sturdee became the Chief of the General Staff.1


Lieutenant Colonel Leonard Roach was made the 21st’s commanding officer. He was a popular choice among the men, some of whom had known him in the peacetime militia and were keen to continue to serve under a man they admired and respected. They were not to know that within eighteen months he would have left the battalion under a cloud.


Bonegilla was nearly 250 kilometres away and in an effort to boost morale and improve physical fitness it was decided the men would march all the way. It took them eleven days – it has been described as the longest military manoeuvre ever undertaken in the history of Australia2 – and proved to be a rare example of inspired military wisdom. Despite initial reservations about the long, north-easterly trek, it gave the men their first real opportunity to act as one, to demonstrate they were more than an ill-disciplined bunch of boys drawn from the city and the bush, and to show pride in their appearance as they made their way through country towns and settlements.


Even the locals were impressed as the 2/21st strode purposefully along the highways and byways of rural Victoria. Mothers and babies waved from their verandahs. Shopkeepers emerged from their stores to catch a glimpse of the fighting force which offered so much promise in these uncertain times. Farmhands in the fields whistled and shrieked messages of support in the distance. These were heady times for the likes of Eddie Gilbert and his new-found comrades. To the public they were heroes in the making. For the first time since becoming part of Len Roach’s battalion they were able to share a genuine sense of pride and purpose.


But maintaining the sudden surge in morale would not be easy. Though they were physically fit after their eleven-day hike, training conditions at Bonegilla left much to be desired. For men who were supposedly being taught the art of modern warfare, there was a singular lack of appropriate weaponry. Many of the guns were from the First World War era. Initially, there was no rifle range to practise on. The lack of facilities meant a trip to the Albury and Wodonga ranges for those on small arms courses. But the overall standard of shooting was poor, with few of the men reaching an acceptable level of proficiency during their Bonegilla stay.3


Such negative assessments were not universal. While the specialist training could have been more effective, the new recruits enjoyed the relative comfort and newly built facilities of the camp. Eddie Gilbert revelled in the daily round of running, marching, jumping and wading to improve his physical fitness. ‘It was a great camp and I was happy there,’ he remembers. ‘The training was pretty intensive, but it was relieved by the fact we were fairly close to Albury and the people there were very hospitable.’


If Bonegilla appeared more like a holiday camp than a training facility for serious killing, the future would make up for it. At the back of everyone’s mind was the question, Where next? Most assumed they were destined for the Middle East, to where the 6th Division had already been posted; the 7th Division would soon follow. In fact, the 2/21st would kick their heels for about sixteen months before being deployed overseas and it would be even longer before they saw enemy action. The first hint that their military career was to take an unexpected course came in early 1941, when they were herded aboard a train to Alice Springs. Nobody knew their ultimate destination but even those with the slightest geographical knowledge realised they were heading north. As the Northern Territory emerged from the wet season, the battalion found itself on the Stuart Highway en route to Darwin. It was the beginning of a downward spiral that would embrace boredom, ill-discipline, hunger, disease, despair, defeat and for many, death.
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By now Brigadier Edmund Lind, who was in charge of the 23rd Brigade, had organised the formation of three separate troop deployments who would be known as Lark Force, Sparrow Force and Gull Force. Lark, which was made up of men from the 22nd Battalion, would be sent to Rabaul; Sparrow, most of whom were from the 2/40th, was earmarked for Timor; and Gull was destined for Ambon, though few of the men from the 2/21st were aware of it at the time.


In addition to the 21st, Gull Force was also made up of several specialist units who joined the battalion at a later stage. These included the Army Catering Corps, the 104th Light Aid Detachment, the Australian Anti-Tank Battery, a signals section from the 23rd Brigade, a dental unit, members of the Intelligence Corps, the 2/11th Field Engineers and the 2/12th Field Ambulance. All would come under the Gull Force umbrella and work alongside the 2/21st Battalion, whose fate, as it turned out, was sealed long before it left Australia.


The strategy that saw Gull Force’s undoing was largely the result of decisions made during a series of Allied meetings which stretched from October 1940 to February 1941 in the tropical heat of Singapore.


The first conference, instigated by the British chiefs of staff and supported by the Australian War Cabinet, was also attended by staff officers from India, New Zealand and Burma. The defence of East Asia was the initial brief, but before the meeting got underway on 22 October it was agreed to extend the area under consideration to most of the Pacific. The line of defence forces posted at Ambon (Gull Force), Timor (Sparrow Force) and New Britain (Lark Force) became known as the Malay Barrier. The aim was to devise a strategy to combat Japanese forces should they enter the war on the side of the Axis powers, which seemed increasingly likely. Barely a month earlier, in September, Japan had signed a ten-year pact with Germany and Italy ‘to assist one another with all political, economic and military means if one of the high contracting parties should be attacked by a Power not at present involved in the European war, or in the Sino-Japanese conflict.’


The western powers got the message. The United States Ambassador to France, William Bullitt, told the Council on Foreign Relations in Chicago that the pact was a ‘contingent declaration of enmity’. ‘If ever a clear warning was given to a nation that the three aggressors contemplated a future assault upon it, that warning was given to the American people,’ he declared.4


Keen to push the United States into a more aggressive stance, the British Prime Minister Winston Churchill asked President Roosevelt if it might be possible to send an American squadron on a friendly visit to Singapore. ‘If desired, occasion might be taken of such a visit for a technical discussion of naval and military problems … and the Dutch might be invited to join.’5 Roosevelt declined the invitation, concluding that sending a squadron to Singapore might precipitate Japanese action against the United States.


Even so, it wasn’t long before representatives of the Dutch East Indies joined the British and Australians at the conference table in Singapore to thrash out a joint Allied response to protect their interests in the Far East. Over the following months they examined their military options in minute detail, negotiating mutual support agreements should Japan attack one or more of their territories.


By now it was increasingly apparent that the region was in desperate need of a modern air force, in the absence of British air and naval support to protect Singapore and Malaya.


A key decision came in the final week of February 1941, when the Dutch pledged to provide air back-up in defence of Malaya should the Japanese enter the war, in return for a similar commitment by Australia to protect Timor and Ambon, which were part of the Dutch East Indies. The Dutch sold the idea to Canberra on the grounds that Ambon was an important link between Java and Australia and might aid its defence in the event of a Japanese invasion of Australia’s northern coastline. The deal was that the Netherlands would transfer a total of 24 aircraft to Singapore, while Australia would supply three squadrons to operate over Ambon and Timor.6 Australia agreed to provide army units to both islands after Sir Charles Burnett, who was Australia’s Air Chief Marshal, demanded that if he sent his planes there, Australian ground troops must be provided to protect them.7


According to the man who devised the Singapore agreement, Britain’s Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, Australia also agreed to provide army units to both islands. Australian troops would protect Australian and Dutch planes on Timor and Ambon while offering futher aerial support out of Darwin.8


The Australian chiefs of staff were left to sort out the details and report back at a later date. It was here that understandings started to unravel.
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Back in Darwin, Gull Force was still kicking its heels. While unaware of the grand strategy hammered out in Singapore, the rank and file were becoming increasingly restless.


The battalion had arrived in April 1941 to discover a camp site devoid of the sort of accommodation provided at Bonegilla in Victoria. It was scrubland with tents. To make the living conditions more acceptable, the men set about building tin huts to live and sleep in. What they had overlooked was that this was the start of the dry season, when the Northern Territory became unbearably hot and metal structures heated up like ovens.


To make matters worse, they were a long way out of town, at Winnellie, several kilometres from Darwin’s drinking holes and other modest social attractions. The food was nothing to write home about, and because of the distance from Victoria, opportunities for leave were virtually non-existent. There was also the as yet unanswered question of what they were doing there. Desperate for action and bored with day-to-day life in the Top End, they became known as ‘the lost legion’. Morale plummeted and discipline followed suit.


There were almost riots, according to Walter Hicks, who recalls it as a far from happy time. ‘We were bored stiff, in the main,’ adds Eddie Gilbert. ‘It was like living in a wild west town, and to pass the time fellas either boozed or gambled or did both.’ Fortunately for Eddie he had other distractions. Soon after arriving in Winnellie he was chosen to join B Company’s mortar team, which meant going away for weeks of training. ‘It was great because it eased the boredom.’


The men of the 2/12th Field Ambulance, including Tom Pledger, set up camp about a quarter of a mile away from the 2/21st and kept themselves to themselves.


Jimmy Morrison, who until now had never been out of Sydney, was shocked by the Northern Territory’s simmering racial tensions. Relations between the predominantly white diggers and the Indigenous locals occasionally boiled over. One night he witnessed an ugly clash between a soldier and a young Aboriginal woman who ended up being ‘ripped right across the face’ and left in the gutter. ‘It was shocking,’ he says, ‘but those sort of things went on in Darwin. There were fights every night.’


Perhaps the most damning description of military life in Darwin came from William Scott, who would later command Gull Force. While much of his report was based on hearsay, his findings, if true, cast doubt on the quality of training the men were receiving and the level of discipline imposed on them by Lieutenant Colonel Roach. There was talk of drunkenness, gambling, fighting and insubordination. He painted a picture of a battalion who were out of control. Though it would emerge that Scott, whose own actions would later bring him into disrepute, had a vested interest in badmouthing his predecessor and thereby tarnishing the image of the men.


Even taken with a pinch of salt, however, Scott’s claims make for uncomfortable reading. ‘Discipline was becoming bad, gambling was carried on openly in defiance of orders, troops drank heavily at night time and there was much disorderly noise and cat-calling after lights out,’ he reported. It got worse. Officers were heckled, threatened and assaulted. Bottles were thrown at them. An officer suffered bruising and abrasions to the face during a particularly unpleasant altercation.


Another night there was a near riot by D Company after one of their number was placed in the detention compound. Angered by their mate’s incarceration, the rest of the party marched to the compound and demanded his release. On another occasion an officer was called a bastard for ordering a stop to drinking and gambling at lights out. When the revellers refused to co-operate, more officers intervened and fighting broke out. A private who tried to restore peace was so badly hurt that he needed urgent medical attention.


Significantly, nobody was charged, and in other cases the trouble was often covered up so that the authorities didn’t hear of it.


There were some incidents which nobody could ignore and which struck at the very heart of the problem facing Gull Force – rebellion in the ranks. On several occasions the men openly booed their senior officers. During a boxing tournament there were cat-calls as the officers took their seats. ‘The uproar reached its climax on the appearance of the CO and Brigadier,’ observed Scott.


While this might be excused in retrospect as a mere outburst of Aussie larrikinism, there was worse to come. One evening Air Vice Marshal Brooke-Popham, who was on an official visit, suffered the same fate. Again there were boos and cat-calls. We can only speculate what the British defence chief made of the raucous reception but it clearly didn’t enhance the battalion’s image. Perhaps even more tellingly, no disciplinary action was taken over these incidents and nobody was charged.


Scott later insisted that the ill-discipline at Darwin reflected a lack of backbone among those in charge, whom he claimed were ‘powerless and out of control’.9


Was Scott being unfair to Gull Force? Certainly there were rough elements in Darwin, but such qualities were not unique to the 2/21st. These men were straining at the leash for action, to prove their worth in combat and to defend Australia – no wonder they were frustrated. And if Scott needed a scapegoat to justify his own shortcomings, Gull Force was a convenient whipping boy.


Yes, much of Scott’s Darwin assessment was based on gossip and on stories provided second-hand. And, conveniently, since many of the incidents were never subject to disciplinary action or courts martial, there was little documented record of the cases on which the allegations were based. Yet as Joan Beaumont writes in her history of Gull Force:






Even if Scott did overstate his case, few of the officers of the 2/21st would deny that discipline became increasingly difficult to maintain as the frustrations of being in Darwin grew. Certainly the morale of the unit suffered and Macrae’s [Major Ian Macrae, second in command] conclusion, looking back on the period years later, was that the ‘general tone and esprit de corps of the battalion was never as high as it had been at Bonegilla’.10








Even official historian Lionel Wigmore conceded there were serious problems in the Top End as some of the troops ‘became restive and resentful’. He wrote that ‘the period of waiting proved a severe test for soldiers who were reading daily of the exploits of their comrades in North Africa, Greece, Crete and Syria. The number of breaches of discipline in some units increased disturbingly as the months went on.’11


And their behaviour and general depression didn’t improve when on two occasions ten per cent of the battalion were posted to the Middle East as reinforcements. Those who were left behind felt useless and forgotten.


For Brigadier Edmund Lind, Commander of 23rd Brigade, keeping a lid on the men’s frustrations in Darwin was one of several challenges he needed to address. His principal task was to defend the Northern Territory against possible Japanese attack, a challenge not to be underestimated given the length of the coastline. But there was another order which worried him still more and which remained top secret at that stage.


In May 1941 Lind was instructed to send two of his battalions north should the Japanese attack southward. Based on what had been discussed earlier at the Singapore meetings – which had been approved by the Australian War Cabinet as well as Britain’s Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, who was in overall charge of the plan – Sparrow Force would be despatched to Timor at the far eastern end of the Javanese archipelago, and Gull Force to Ambon, more than 900 kilometres away in the Moluccas.


Lind and his two infantry commanders, Lieutenant Colonel Geoffrey Youl of the 2/40th and Lieutenant Colonel Roach of the 2/21st, decided to reconnoitre both islands. What they discovered produced a sense of unease that would haunt all three men for the next eight months. Lind made it clear on his return that an isolated and inadequately armed battalion per island would be no match for the enemy. Further trips were made which only served to reinforce his concern.


His reservations were backed by Lieutenant Colonel Eric Scriven, officer commanding, the Royal Australian Engineers, who concluded that Ambon would be a difficult place to defend, given its steep, dense jungles. In a detailed report on the island he also pointed out the shortage of open space in which to manoeuvre troops and the limited local food production, which meant that supplies would have to be imported from Australia. Sadly, Scriven died in an accident in June at the age of 44 but his report contained some sound advice which, had it been taken seriously by the decision makers, might have changed their attitude towards Gull Force.


While on the face of it Sturdee stood doggedly determined to abide by the Singapore pledge to support the Dutch, he later admitted that he had also harboured genuine concerns about the wisdom of sending men there.12 So why didn’t he express his reservations to the War Cabinet at the time? Why did he continue to prepare for an ill-fated mission without the Cabinet knowing the chances of success were minimal? And this at a time when events gave him the perfect get-out clause.


As David A. Evans observes in his post-war examination of the Ambon debacle, the Japanese had rendered the Singapore strategy void after attacking south-east Asia and Pearl Harbor on a front that was broader than expected – a fact that should have prompted the War Cabinet to review its approach to strategy along the Malay Barrier before embarking any troops to Ambon and Timor. As it stood:






Under the Singapore conference policy the Australian War Cabinet retained the right to unilaterally form high strategic policy in its theatre of operations, which included Ambon, and could withdraw or withhold forces from that commitment at any time subject to only informing Far East Command before taking such action … [It transpired that there] was no longer a logical strategic or political object in sending Gull Force to Ambon other than to occupy and hold.13








Given that Sturdee privately accepted that Gull Force stood little chance of defending Ambon for more than a few days in the face of an overwhelming Japanese onslaught, now was possibly the perfect time to advise the Australian government accordingly. But it appeared the Cabinet remained blissfully unaware of the very real danger facing Gull Force until after it had embarked for Ambon.


It was only a report of the mobilisation of Japanese forces in the Far East that started to concentrate Cabinet minds. By November Tokyo’s plans were gathering pace for an attack on American, Dutch and British interests in south-east Asia and the Pacific. But it wasn’t until January that Sturdee made mention of his growing doubts, suggesting that scattering troops too thinly around the islands north of Australia was a waste of men. By then it was almost too late. Evans claims Sturdee’s withholding of information from the Australian War Cabinet about Gull Force’s chances of survival had rendered it ‘dysfunctional in properly performing its responsibilities to grand strategy and Gull Force’.






It was within Sturdee’s area of responsibility to inform the government of the strategic weakness in the scheme but he chose not to do that until the last moment. [Prime Minister] Curtin and the War Cabinet thus agreed to Sturdee’s terms that Rabaul, and effectively Timor and Ambon, were to be left to their fate against overwhelming Japanese forces without the hope of reinforcement, withdrawal or rescue and all for the sake of a desperate, ill-considered and ill-prepared air observation policy that could have been carried out successfully by the RAAF alone.14








‘This was a serious predicament that could have been addressed responsibly in the days leading up to December 16 and before Gull Force went to Ambon,’ says Evans. ‘Sturdee had failed to re-examine the strategic options responsibly and chose to ignore Roach’s protestations that Gull Force was inadequate to its allocated task’ until it was too late.


It might have helped if the 2/21st had been allowed to sail to Ambon earlier to build their defences and work alongside 2500 Royal Netherlands East Indies Army troops already based on the island, but this idea was rejected by the Dutch on the grounds that it might be seen as a war-like gesture and provoke the Japanese. It was a telling response. The Dutch East Indies appeared to lack a certain fighting spirit – a view that would gain ground in the weeks and months ahead.
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Back in Darwin the mood among the men had hardened. On 7 December, the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor, sending the Allied powers into a frenzy of activity, not least in Australia. Gull Force was given just seven days to prepare for embarkation to the island of Ambon, but even as the men polished their boots and readied their weapons for war, Commander Roach continued to press Army HQ for more troops and better back-up. If he couldn’t prevent them going to Ambon, he would damn well make sure they got the support they deserved.


Roach did not hold back. In a letter to Scott sent on 13 December he condemned his military superiors for doing nothing to address his and Lind’s concerns: ‘If any of my excellent fellows do not arrive at their destination it will not be a case of gallant sacrifice but of murder due to sheer slackness and maladministration,’ he warned.15


Len Roach must have known there was little chance of a change of heart at this late stage. It was by now impossible to extricate the 2/21st from the defence strategy devised in Singapore and too late to send more arms and reinforcements to aid them when they reached Ambon. They were on their own, cast adrift and destined to suffer defeat at the hands of a brutal and unforgiving enemy.
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DESTINATION AMBON


THE THREE DUTCH vessels assigned to take Gull Force to Ambon were slow but functional, with little or no firepower to protect passengers from the Japanese menace. But who cared about shipboard safety when submarines or enemy aircraft posed a much more serious threat? Tom Pledger and his mates boarded the Patras. Others sailed on the Bhot and Valentine. Though normally used as inter-island ferries, their cargo was not restricted to passengers. Often the ships were packed with livestock including cattle, sheep and chickens. There were no cabins for the men; some were forced to sleep in the cattle pen. Not that it mattered. Wasn’t it exhilarating just to be at sea?


‘We were on our way to war,’ says Eddie Gilbert. ‘That’s why we enlisted, not to spend eight demoralising months at Darwin digging slit trenches and learning how to be defensive.’


It was a three-day voyage and if there was apprehension among the men, they didn’t show it. Yet. Only the zigzagging of their tiny fleet – an accepted anti-submarine tactic ordered by the captain just to be on the safe side – provided a hint of the underlying concerns. Two Australian navy vessels, the cruiser Adelaide and the Ballarat, a corvette, also offered protection, and several RAAF planes gave aerial cover.


Eddie’s brain was ticking over. What if they were torpedoed and his ship sank? How would they survive? Where were the lifebelts? Nobody had raised such obvious questions, so Private Gilbert went straight to the point. The response from a passing Dutch crewman gave little cause for comfort. He said that it wasn’t worth worrying about lifebelts as the ship’s hold was full of 10-pound mortar bombs. ‘He didn’t have to spell out the likely consequences should we be hit by a torpedo – imagination did that,’ Eddie records in his diary. ‘This incident really was a sobering reminder that there really was a war on and that we were participants.’


Few of the nearly 1200 Australians who made their way across the Arafura Sea on the first leg of their 950-kilometre voyage north to the Moluccas had ever heard of Ambon. Until now, most had shown little interest in Australia’s northerly neighbours. And why should they have? Historical ties to the mother country meant that most Australians still saw their homeland as an extension of the British empire, a distant colonial outpost which had little in common with Asia.
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